STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

RICHARD TODD CULBERSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000371

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

U1 01 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. By failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument asking the jurors to place themselves in the shoes of the alleged victim when analyzing the evidence presented, in violation of the Golden Rule, did trial counsel violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel?

II. By failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument regarding "not get away with crime," did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in violation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

III. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance by (1) failing to object to the solicitor cross-examining the expert witness about facts that were not in the record in order to bolster the alleged victim's eyewitness identification and (2) failing to object to the solicitor capitalizing on those facts during his closing argument?

IV. By failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument lowering the burden of proof, did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in violation of Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

V. Even if the egregious errors by trial counsel did not result in constitutionally deficient representation when analyzed separately, did the cumulative effect of those errors was prejudicial to Petitioner's defense?

STATEMENT

On January 24, 2013, Donna Pruitt worked at Carolina OB/GYN as a nurse manager. App. 141, ll. 23-25; App. 142, ll. 13-14. She had worked there “[o]ff and on, close to 30 years.” App. 142, ll. 15-16. As the nurse manager, she made sure “that the patients flow[ed] well,” “[took] calls for the patients” and “help[ed] to order things and equipment.” App. 143, ll. 1-6.

Pruitt arrived to work early on January 24, 2013, at 7:05 a.m. to meet a maintenance man to repair one of the machines in the office. App. 144, ll. 12-17; App. 146, ll. 6-8; App. 165, ll. 11-21. Faron Cox was a clinical engineer and was scheduled to repair the sterilizer at Carolina OB/GYN. App. 338, ll. 5-16. He arrived around 7:20 a.m. App. 338, ll. 17-18.

When Pruitt opened the door to the building, she felt a tug on her coat. App. 146, ll. 9-13. As she turned, someone stabbed her on the right shoulder with a screwdriver. App. 146, ll. 15-16. She claimed the man touched her breast and pushed her against a glass partition. App. 146, ll. 19-22. She hit the back of her head and slid down the glass. App. 146, ll. 24-25. Pruitt claimed the man tried to pull her pants down by tugging at the hem at the top of her pants. App. 147, ll. 3-6. When she started kicking, the man stabbed her on her right side under her rib. App. 147, ll. 7-9. An elderly couple arrived soon thereafter and called for help. App. 147, ll. 12-13.

Cox heard Pruitt yell for help around 7:15 a.m., and he went to her aid. App. 339, ll. 20-25. Cox saw the elderly gentleman standing near Pruitt. App. 340, ll. 2-5. According to Cox, Pruitt told him that a black man attacked her and ran away. App. 340, ll. 22-25. Cox looked for the man, but he was unable to find him. App. 341, ll. 1-5.

Later, Pruitt described the attacker as a white male who was approximately six feet tall with bad teeth, longish hair, and scruffy facial hair. App. 152, ll. 2-8. The police began looking for the suspect in the nearby area based upon Pruitt’s description. App. 194, ll. 7-24.

Eventually, the police developed Petitioner as a suspect because he generally fit the description. Petitioner was at a bus station with a white female, Heather Marie Holmstrom, when the police stopped him. App. 195, ll. 1-15; App. 258, ll. 6-16; App. 265, ll. 12-17. Petitioner told the police that he was waiting for the city bus to go to his father's house to pick up a check. App. 270, ll. 4-7. Later that day, the police arrested Petitioner at his parents' home. App. 213, ll. 4-14; App. 275, ll. 19-22.

The police also recovered a screwdriver from the doctor's office. App. 225, ll. 4-5. Subsequent DNA testing of the screwdriver revealed neither Pruitt's nor Petitioner's DNA was on the handle of the screwdriver. App. 247, ll. 2-14. Instead, the police found the DNA of an unidentified female on the screwdriver's handle. App. 247, ll. 15-19.

When the police showed Pruitt a line-up later that day, she selected Petitioner's photograph from the line-up. App. 156, ll. 1-22; App. 196, l. 16 – App. 198, l. 17.¹

On March 29, 2013, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for assault and battery in the first degree (2013-GS-42-1811), kidnapping (2013-GS-42-1812), attempted armed robbery (2013-GS-42-1813), and assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct in the first degree (2013-GS-42-1814). App. 692-693; App. 695-696; App. 698-699; App. 701-702. On June 16-17, 2014, the state, represented by Barry Barnette, called the case to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. App. 1. Matthew Shealy represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 431, ll. 6-19. Judge Couch sentenced Petitioner to ten years imprisonment for assault and battery in the first degree and to twenty years imprisonment for the remaining offenses. He ordered all sentences to be served concurrently. App. 439, ll. 14-23; App. 694; App. 697; App. 700; App. 703.

¹ At the trial, Pruitt identified Petitioner as the person who attacked her. App. 158, ll. 14-18.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Tiffany L. Butler. App. 442-454. On appeal, Petitioner challenged the trial judge's failure to direct a verdict of acquittal on the attempted armed robbery charge based upon the state's failure to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Petitioner intended to steal anything. App. App. 442-454. On December 2, 2015, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Culberson, 2015-UP-546 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 2, 2015); App. 471-472. Remittitur was issued on December 21, 2015. App. 473.

On January 29, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 474-485. On June 21, 2015, Petitioner, through counsel, Susannah Ross, filed a supplemental application. App. 492-494. On September 19, 2017, the matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Grace Gilchrest Knie. App. 495. Ross represented Petitioner. App. 495. Valerie Giovanoli represented the state. App. 495. By an order filed November 1, 2017, Judge Knie denied Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 649-676. Subsequently, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 677-679. By an order filed February 16, 2018, Judge Knie denied the motion. App. 691.

On February 28, 2018, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I. By failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument asking the jurors to place themselves in the shoes of the alleged victim when analyzing the evidence presented, in violation of the Golden Rule, trial counsel violated Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel.

Relevant facts

At the beginning of his closing argument, the solicitor asked the jurors to step into the shoes of the alleged victim. App. 390, ll. 20-22. Specifically, he asked the jurors to "just imagine somebody right in front of *your* face." App. 390, ll. 20-21 (emphasis added). He continued: "If somebody's attacking *you*; would *you* remember that? Would *you* remember seeing that face for maybe the last time?" App. 390, ll. 21-22 (emphasis added). Trial counsel posed no objection to the solicitor's improper argument.

When questioned about this portion of his closing argument at the PCR hearing, the solicitor explained that he remembered the argument and it is one he uses "quite often in [identification] cases." App. 554, l. 18 – App. 555, l. 7. The solicitor was well aware of the Golden Rule's prohibition on asking jurors to view the evidence from the position of the alleged victim. App. 555, ll. 8-11. However, the solicitor steadfastly maintained that he had not violated the Golden Rule here. App. 555, ll. 12-24. Specifically, the solicitor claimed:

[W]hat it is from that standpoint, it's a situation where a person's looking at the facial ID standpoint. Here's the person that attacked her around the face. Of course, she's a nurse. She's been 30 years, and going to the ID question, I heard some of the testimony from [Petitioner] from that standpoint.

That was one of the purposes that -- on the ID from that standpoint. Here's a lady that's pretty observant from that standpoint. Someone that she's looking at being attacked by the person face to face and obviously she testified to that ---

App. 555, ll. 14-24.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that he did not find the solicitor's argument asking the jurors to place themselves into the shoes of the alleged victim to be "objectionable." App. 586, l. 5. In his estimation, it was not "a Golden Rule argument," but was "a common sense understanding of eye witness testimony." App. 586, ll. 5-7. He thought the solicitor was permitted to make this type of argument in response to his mistaken identity defense. App. 586, ll. 11-16.

Judge Knie concluded that the solicitor's argument was not "a Golden Rule Argument." App. 665. According to the judge, "[t]he solicitor was not asking the [jurors] to put themselves in the shoes of the victim in an effort to garner pity for the victim and have the jury render a guilty verdict on that basis." App. 665. Judge Knie found "the argument fair game in the case of mistaken identity." App. 665. Additionally, the judge did not find prejudice resulting from trial counsel's failure to object to the solicitor's argument. App. 666.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Id. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695. "When a convicted defendant complains

of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688.

Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. Specifically, on the prejudice prong, the question to ask is "whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finding would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt." Id. (emphasis added).

Although a solicitor should prosecute vigorously, he is a minister of justice. Thus, his job is not to convict a defendant, but to see justice done. A prosecutor's argument must be based upon that basic principle of the criminal justice system. State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 312, 278 S.E.2d 335, 339 (1981). Where a prosecutor makes an improper argument, the question is whether "the remark ... so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 643 (1974). This Court explained an appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor's argument in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge's instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998).

In Donnelly, 416 U.S. at 643-644, the United States Supreme Court held the prosecutor's improper comments were not so egregious such that they infected the trial with unfairness making the resulting conviction a denial of due process in light of the trial judge's "special pains" to cure the error and the ambiguous nature of the argument. Although the Donnelly Court afforded no relief to the defendant, the Court reaffirmed the long-standing legal principle that the "Fourteenth Amendment cannot tolerate a state criminal conviction obtained by the knowing use of false evidence." Id. at 646 (citing Miller v. Pate, 386 U.S. 1, 7 (1967)); see also Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 179-182 (1986).

"A Golden Rule argument asking the jurors to place themselves in the victim's shoes tends to completely destroy all sense of impartiality of the jurors, and its effect is to arouse passion and prejudice." State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 38, 633 S.E.2d 898, 902 (2006), overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). During the closing argument, the solicitor asked the jurors who spoke for the deceased. Id. at 37, 633 S.E.2d at 901. After asking the question several times, the solicitor informed the jurors that they spoke for her and would do so with their verdict. Id. This Court held "[t]he solicitor's argument indisputably asked the jurors to abandon their impartiality and view the evidence from [the deceased]'s viewpoint." Id. at 38, 633 S.E.2d at 902. Thus, the "argument was improper." Id. After remarking that the evidence of Reese's guilt was not overwhelming because his intent was disputed, this Court held the solicitor's improper Golden Rule argument deprived Reese of a fair trial. Id. at 39, 633 S.E.2d at 902.

Addressing this type of argument in the PCR context, this Court held the defense counsel rendered constitutionally deficient performance by failing to object to the solicitor's improper Golden Rule argument in Von Dohlen v. State, 360 S.C. 598, 613, 602 S.E.2d 738, 746 (2004). The solicitor urged the jurors to place themselves in the shoes of the deceased. Id. at 608, 602 S.E.2d at

743. This Court held “[t]he solicitor’s statements constitute a prohibited form of argument sometimes described as a ‘golden rule argument,’ in which jurors are urged to place themselves in the position of a party, a victim, or a victim’s family member and decide the case from that perspective.” *Id.* at 609, 602 S.E.2d at 744.

The solicitor asked the jurors to review the evidence – the only evidence – from the viewpoint of Pruitt. The solicitor’s closing asked the jurors to imagine they were Pruitt and being attacked, and then asked if the jurors would be able to identify the attacker. The only evidence against Petitioner was Pruitt’s testimony identifying him as her attacker. Thus, the sole question for the jurors was whether Pruitt’s identification of Petitioner was accurate. By asking the jurors to view the evidence from Pruitt’s standpoint, the solicitor violated the Golden Rule. Trial counsel’s failure to object was deficient performance, and his testimony at the PCR hearing demonstrated a lack of understanding of the law regarding improper closing arguments by prosecutors. In light of the centrality of the evidence to which the solicitor’s improper comments were directed, there can be little doubt the argument was prejudicial.

II. By failing to object to the solicitor’s closing argument regarding “not get away with crime,” trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in violation of Petitioner’s rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Relevant facts

At the very end of his closing argument, the solicitor pleading with the jury to find Petitioner guilty by appealing to the jurors’ emotions: “Don’t let him get away with this, don’t, because women like Donna Pruitt needs (sic) to be able to go to work and not face what she faced that day, not face the horror.” App. 401, ll. 16-18. At the PCR hearing, trial counsel acknowledged his failure to object to this portion of solicitor’s closing argument. App. 587, ll.

12-23. Trial counsel explained that he did not find anything objectionable about the solicitor's argument "at the time." App. 587, l. 18-20. At the time of the PCR hearing, trial counsel "maybe" would have objected to the argument. App. 587, l. 21. He thought the argument "walk[ed] a line," but went on to explain that "we always - - we do walk lines on closing - - in closing." App. 587, ll. 22-23.

When asked if lawyers were not supposed to play on the emotions of the jury, trial counsel stated:

Right. But I mean - - and, to some extent, we do it. You can't overly do it. You know, I will admit that I make arguments to the - - for instance, I'll tell a story that, you know, ask a jury not to be that member of the jury that comes up to me in six months and says Mr. Shealy, I wish I had voted not guilty cause you can't change it. Don't be the person that comes up to me at a Food Lion, and, yeah, that's playing on, I suppose, the emotions of the jury too. I didn't think that that was impermissible. I didn't think that it was over the line.

Maybe I should [have] simply objected to break up the flow of his cross or his closing. I don't think I would [have] won that objection. I don't think Judge Couch would [have] sustained that objection.

App. 587, l. 25 – App. 588, l. 16.

Denying Petitioner relief on this claim, Judge Knie recounted that Petitioner alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor asking the jury to return a guilty verdict "because women need to be able to go to work and not face the horror the victim did." App. 666. Judge Knie found "nothing objectionable about the solicitor's call upon the jury to punish Petitioner for his criminal conduct." App. 666. According to the judge, the "solicitor's argument was fair." App. 666. Judge Knie continued to explain her finding:

The state and the defense are both allowed to play on both the reason and the emotion of a jury. After all, a jury is made up of humans, none of whom are immune to emotion. However, an appeal to the emotion of a jury becomes improper when it is an extreme or outweighs the appeal to reason. That was simply not the case here. The evidence presented damning facts against

[Petitioner]. The jury's verdict was obviously not a result of emotion, but rather a result of the evidence put forth before them.

App. 666. Additionally, the judge found Petitioner failed to prove prejudice resulting from trial counsel's failure to object to the solicitor's closing argument.

Discussion

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695.

In a recent capital case, this Court found a solicitor's closing argument to require reversal where the solicitor informed the jury that if the death penalty were not returned, then it would be the equivalent of "declaring an "open season on babies in Lexington County." The only purpose of such a statement was to inflame the jury. Additionally, the prosecutor told the jury repeatedly that he "expected" the jury to return a death verdict, which was in direct contradiction of case law. Finally, the prosecutor ended his argument by producing a large black shroud and draping it over the baby's crib, which he wheeled into the courtroom in a staged funeral procession. State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 222-223, 641 S.E.2d 873, 881-882 (2007).

In State v. Barroso, 320 S.C. 1, 20-21, 462 S.E.2d 862, 874-875 (Ct. App. 1995), rev'd on other grounds, State v. Barroso, 328 S.C. 268, 493 S.E.2d 854 (1997), the Court of Appeals dealt with the prosecution offering testimony from a witness in a statewide grand jury drug conspiracy case where the wife of a state's witness found a note under her windshield which stated: "I know where you live." His wife also received a telephone call wherein she was told "testify and you

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