STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000371

---

RICHARD TODD CULBERSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
S.C. Bar No. 8729  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 05 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

##

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

circumstantial evidence, and the jury's duty to determine credibility of the witnesses.

Petitioner's case is therefore comparable to *Smith v. State*, 375 S.C. 507, 524, 654 S.E.2d 523, 532 (2007), *abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (concluding any impropriety in the solicitor's closing argument was not sufficient to grant defendant post-conviction relief where solicitor's improper use of the pronoun "I" was limited, did not recur throughout his argument, there was overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt, and the trial judge instructed the jury not to consider counsels' statements as evidence); compare *State v. McDaniel*, 320 S.C. 33, 37-38, 462 S.E.2d 882, 884 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding solicitor's use of "you" forty-five times during closing argument asking the jurors to put themselves in the place of the victim constituted reversible error and warranted a new trial).

In *Smith*, this Court found the solicitor's comments came at the very end of his closing argument and were limited in duration, and therefore, did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. *Id.*; See also *Von Dohlen*, 360 S.C. at 613-14, 602 S.E.2d at 746 (holding trial counsel, during the penalty phase of a capital case, was deficient in failing to object to solicitor's comment for the jurors to put themselves in the victim's shoes, but finding such deficient performance was not prejudicial). Here, the comment was similarly limited in scope. Also, the trial judge instructed the jury that opening statements and closing arguments are not evidence and could not be used in determining guilt or innocence. (App.p.82). Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove either deficiency or prejudice, the PCR court's finding denying post-conviction relief was proper, and certiorari should be denied.

## II.

**The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's comment during closing argument: "don't let him get away with this" because it was not an improper appeal to the juror's emotions and was instead a comment consistent with the Solicitor's duty to see justice done. Furthermore, even if the argument was improper, Petitioner was not prejudiced where the comment did not so unfairly infect the trial so as to make Petitioner's conviction a denial of due process.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for "failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument regarding 'not get away with crime'" because the comment violated Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. Relying in part on *State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. 207, 641 S.E.2d 873 (2007); *State v. Barroso*, 320 S.C. 1, 462 S.E.2d 862 (Ct. App. 1995); and *State v. Merriman*, 287 S.C. 74, 337 S.E.2d 218 (Ct. App. 1985), he argues the comments were akin to cases in which this Court has held a new trial was warranted because the Solicitor evoked fear in the jurors by urging them to convict because Petitioner would be a future danger. The State disagrees and submits Petitioner's argument is without merit. The PCR court properly found nothing objectionable about the Solicitor's call upon the jury to punish Petitioner for his criminal conduct. The Solicitor's argument was fair. The jury's verdict was obviously not a result of emotion, but rather a result of the evidence put forth before them. Petitioner failed to prove his burden that he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency on this issue.

Here, the Solicitor did not attempt to inflame the jury or stoke its fears by arguing Petitioner would be a future danger. Rather, the Solicitor's asking the jury not to let Petitioner "get away with the crime" was effectively a suggestion that the jurors could be instruments of

justice for the victim by finding the defendant guilty, which is a permissible argument. In *State v. Rice*, the prosecutor, during closing argument, “asked the jury to give the victim’s wife peace and the victim justice.” 375 S.C. 302, 333, 652 S.E.2d 409, 424 (Ct. App. 2007), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011). Defense counsel objected on the ground that the comment “improperly injected passion or sympathy into the trial of the case” and asked the trial court to give a curative instruction, which the trial court declined to do. *Id.* at 335, 652 S.E.2d at 426. On appeal, the Court of Appeals agreed with the trial judge, explaining, “Arguably, the prosecutor’s comment was consistent with his duty, not to convict a defendant, but to see justice done. Viewed from that perspective, the prosecutor merely asked the jury to do the duty that was already required of them.” *Id.* at 336, 652 S.E.2d at 426. Similarly, in Petitioner’s case, as explained by Counsel, the comment at issue was not objectionable as intended to appeal the jurors’ emotions or improperly influence the verdict. By comparison, in *Northcutt* the solicitor argued a jury’s failure to impose the death penalty would be like declaring “open season on babies in Lexington County.” That argument turned the focus outward, on fear about future danger to the community. Here, the Solicitor appropriately turned the focus inward on Petitioner and the concept of not letting him evade justice. Also, unlike *Barrosso* and *Merriman*, the Solicitor in this case made no reference to threats or danger to prosecution witnesses or anyone else, other than threats and danger associated with the crime itself. The PCR court properly found Counsel was not deficient in failing to object to a proper closing argument.

Finally, even if somehow improper, the comment was not so prejudicial so as to constitute a denial of due process. Petitioner did not prove there is a reasonable probability that

had Counsel objected, it would have affected the outcome of the trial. Indeed, an objection would either have been overruled or resulted in a simple curative instruction from the trial court. Thus, Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object, Petitioner suffered no prejudice, and the PCR court properly denied relief.

### III.

**The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Solicitor cross-examining Petitioner's expert witness on the common-knowledge job duties and characteristics of a nurse, and for failing to object to the Solicitor's reference to those characteristics in his closing argument. Furthermore, even if the cross-examination and/or closing was improper, Petitioner was not prejudiced where the questions and argument did not so unfairly infect the trial so as to make Petitioner's conviction a denial of due process.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for: (1) failing to object to the Solicitor cross-examining Petitioner's expert witness "about facts that were not in the record" and (2) failing to object to the Solicitor "capitalizing on those facts during his closing argument." Specifically, Petitioner complains Counsel did not object to the Solicitor asking his identification expert about common-knowledge general duties of a nurse and how those duties might affect identification, and then mentioning those duties during his closing argument in an effort to imply the victim was observant and therefore paid close attention to the face of her attacker. He argues that where the State only elicited testimony that Victim had worked at the doctor's office for thirty years, was the head nurse, and performed managerial duties, the general duties of nurses were not applicable to her and therefore the Solicitor was improperly bolstering Victim's identification based on facts not in evidence. The State disagrees and submits the PCR court properly concluded Counsel was not ineffective in these respects

because the cross-examination and the closing remarks were appropriate and unobjectionable. Furthermore, any objection from Counsel on this ground was not reasonably likely to affect the outcome of the trial.

The trial court has wide discretion in ruling on the appropriateness of a closing argument. *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). Appellate courts will not disturb the trial court's ruling regarding a closing argument unless there is a clear abuse of discretion. *State v. Rudd*, 355 S.C. 543, 548, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003). In considering this issue, the solicitor's remarks must be evaluated in the context in which they were made. *See State v. Weaver*, 361 S.C. 73, 89, 602 S.E.2d 786, 794 ("In making this determination, we must examine the alleged impropriety in the context of the entire record."). "The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 766 (1997).

Here, the PCR court found a nurse's duties are general common knowledge. This finding is supported by evidence in the record, including the testimony of both the Solicitor and Counsel recognizing general nurses' duties are common knowledge. Here, the Solicitor drew reasonable inferences from Victim's own testimony that she was the head nurse and had worked for the doctor's office for approximately thirty years. Questions and arguments about common knowledge duties of a nurse were a logical and reasonable extension of the testimony. Indeed, as found by the PCR court, the duties of a nurse were not a fact in dispute or controversy and therefore were not objectionable under the theory that the State was assuming facts not in evidence. *Phillips v. State*, 728 So.2d 681, 684 (Al. Ct. Crim. App. 1998) ("Although the

appellant correctly asserts that a question that assumes facts not in evidence is objectionable, the question is improper only if it ‘assumes a fact *in controversy*.’”). Thus, the PCR court properly found counsel was not ineffective for failing to object.

Petitioner also failed to prove there is a reasonable probability an objection to this testimony would have had any effect on the outcome of his trial. Therefore, this allegation was properly rejected by the PCR court and certiorari should be denied.

#### IV.

**The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Solicitor’s purported comment during closing argument misstating the burden of proof. Furthermore, even if the misstatement was made, Petitioner was not prejudiced where the trial court thoroughly charged the jury on the law, including the proper burden of proof.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the Solicitor’s closing argument “lowering the burden of proof” in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. He argues the comment that the State did not have to prove its case “beyond any reasonable doubt” was accurate as reflected in the transcript and was such an egregious misstatement of the law he should have been granted a new trial because Counsel failed to object. The State disagrees and submits the PCR court properly concluded Petitioner failed to prove the apparent misstatement was actually made, or that Counsel was ineffective in this regard. Furthermore, even if the transcript is accurate, the comment had no impact where the trial court cured the improper comment in its jury charge.

Both Counsel and the Solicitor testified the comment reflected in the transcript is not what was actually said during the Solicitor’s closing argument. The PCR court found Counsel’s

and the Solicitor's testimony on the issue credible and therefore, made factual findings that the transcript contained an error. That finding of fact must be given great deference on appeal.

*Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011). Consequently, Counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to object.<sup>2</sup>

Regardless, Petitioner has failed to prove any prejudice from the alleged failure to object. The trial judge repeatedly charged the correct burden of proof and mentioned reasonable doubt twenty-six times during his jury instructions. The trial court also charged the jury that a closing argument may not be considered for determining guilt or innocence. (App.p.82). Therefore, there is no reasonable possibility that had Counsel objected to any alleged misstatement by the Solicitor, it would have affected the outcome at trial.

#### V.

**The post-conviction relief court properly rejected Petitioner's argument that the cumulative effect of Counsel's errors resulted in sufficient prejudice to his defense that he should have been granted relief.**

Petitioner argues that even if the individual errors by trial counsel did not result in constitutionally deficient representation when analyzed separately, the "cumulative effect of those errors" would nevertheless entitle him to post-conviction relief. The State disagrees and submits the PCR court properly ignored this argument, as it already concluded Applicant failed to meet his requisite burden of deficiency for each ground raised.

"When counsel's deficiency is so pervasive as to render a particularized prejudice inquiry unnecessary, a defendant may be relieved of his burden to show prejudice." *Simpson v. Moore*,

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner suggests the State is somehow at fault for failing to challenge the accuracy of the transcript during the direct appeal. This is preposterous, as the closing argument was not an issue in the direct appeal. There would have been no reason to know there was an inaccuracy until the particular language became an issue at PCR.

367 S.C. 587, 604, 627 S.E.2d 701, 710 (2006), abrogated on other grounds by *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). However, “whether the cumulation of several errors, which by themselves are not prejudicial, would warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina.” *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 197, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002); *see also Lorenzen v. State*, 376 S.C. 521, 535 n. 3, 657 S.E.2d , 771, 779 n.3 (2008). Moreover, the Fourth Circuit has held that “ineffective assistance of counsel claims, like claims of trial court error, must be reviewed individually, rather than collectively” and, therefore, does not recognize a cumulative error analysis. *Fisher v. Angelone*, 163 F.3d 835, 852 (4th Cir. 1998).

This Court recently stressed the importance of the PCR court’s role in making specific findings on prejudice that are tied to the particular deficiencies alleged. *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 194, 810 S.E.2d at 846 (“As we have explained, the strength of the evidence must be considered along with the specific impact of counsel’s errors.”). “In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial. In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State’s case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury. In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice. *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

Here, the PCR court addressed specific findings of prejudice, or the lack thereof, tied to each of the particular deficiencies alleged. Consequently, it appears the PCR court found a cumulative error analysis would be inappropriate, particularly because Petitioner had not met his burden of establishing deficiency as to any of the enumerated grounds. That implicit finding is supported by ample evidence in the record and should result in a denial of certiorari.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues addressed herein.